
REEF APARTMENT-HOTEL 

1409-1411 WASHINGTON AVENUE, MIAMI BEACH 

 

 This three-story building in classic Art Deco style was built in 1935 in the 

heart of Miami Beach’s developing commercial district. A restaurant occupied the 

entire ground floor, and furnished apartments and hotel rooms were on the upper 

floors. The building cost $36,000 and its architect was Victor H. Nellenbogen, 

misspelled on the Permit Card (see Biography following). It is now a Contributing 

structure in both the National Register and local historic districts. 

 

 The building permit was issued on November 6, 1935, and the building was 

ready for occupancy on January 15, 1936. Owner and operator was Jack P. 

Broome, who ran a “curbside” eatery with live music at 1108 Biscayne Boulevard 

in Miami that was also called The Reef.1 The restaurant in this Miami Beach 

building was called “Chicken Jack’s,” specializing in chicken, steak, and Florida 

lobster. To announce its opening on January 24, 1936, airplanes dropped 10,000 

advertising balloons over the Miami area. 

 

 The building at its opening received an extensive writeup in the Miami 

Herald2 that includes a rendering, interior photographs of an apartment and the 

restaurant, and a photo of Mr. Broome and his maitre d’, George Bozarth. In 

addition, original plans, though of limited legibility, were found on Microfilm 

#7542 in the Miami Beach Building Department. 

 

 This building is now a historic gem, but when it was new the Herald hailed 

it as “the latest type modern architecture.” Typical of Art Deco, the front façade is 

symmetrical and divided into three sections: vertical ribs define the center section, 

ornamented with bas relief panels, and the side sections have horizontal lines 

                                                 
1 “Chicken Jack’s, New Restaurant in Miami Beach, Opens Service,” Miami Herald, Jan. 24, 1936. 
2 “Apartment Hotel Near Completion,” Jan. 7, 1936; “Chicken Jack’s…” and “New Restaurant 

Presents Attractive Scene,” Jan. 24, 1936. 



incised in the stucco and wrapping around the corners. There are also corner 

windows that were originally steel casements3 but were replaced with aluminum 

awning-type windows in 1963.4 Dentil molding decorates the parapet. 

 

 The building’s most notable feature is the stainless steel marquee that 

extends across almost the entire front at the first story. (Nellenbogen designed a 

similar marquee on the Savoy Plaza Hotel, 425 Ocean Drive, also in 1935.) This 

was the grand entrance to the restaurant, “illuminated by neon tubing in colors.”5 

Beneath the marquee, the front façade of the restaurant had glass-paneled double 

doors at the center, with horizontal push-bars. To either side of the door was a 

round-ended swath of windows described in the newspaper as a novel feature: 

“disappearing windows for ventilation, giving the impression of a continental 

sidewalk café.” While it is unclear what “disappearing” windows were, the plans 

show the front windows ---two on each side – in three horizontal panels. These 

may be three sashes that could be pushed together, or they may have folded up so 

as to “disappear.” 

 

 The newspaper also documents that the first story was faced in “green and 

walnut colored vitrolite, contrasting against aluminite (sic) metal-covered sash 

doors and frames,” and “two columns of illuminated structural glass adorn each 

side of the entrance.” The plans show a window opening into the restaurant on the 

north elevation, since the building next door at the time had a large setback. 

 

 In addition to signage on the marquee, the rendering and the plans both 

show a fin sign at the parapet, and the newspaper describes another novel 

feature: “on the top of the building is a large electrical sign featuring an animated 

rooster design in multicolors….The animated “rooster” crows periodically.” The 

                                                 
3 Miami Herald, Jan. 7, 1936. 
4 Building Permit Card #1259. 
5 Miami Herald, Jan. 7, 1936. 



Permit Card notes that the neon lights were “reconnected” in November 1945, at 

the end of the World War II and its blackouts. 

 

 The rooster motif was continued on the interior of Chicken Jack’s, in a large 

five-color medallion of a rooster in the terrazzo floor at the entrance, the “pattern 

as selected by owner,” according to the plans.. It still survives, although the $5 

gold piece that was “securely anchored” as the eye6 has long ago disappeared. 

 

 The restaurant accommodated 164 diners and was described as a “dining 

patio.” Centered at the rear wall was a U-shaped stainless steel counter “where 

quick service may be had.” There was seating in upholstered booths to both sides 

of the counter, and the front section was filled with free-standing tables, as seen 

in the newspaper photograph. Plain, hanging light fixtures are also seen in the 

photo. Chicken Jack’s was only here for a year, however. By the end of 1936 it 

had become “Goldhagen’s Roumanian Restaurant,” according to the Permit Card, 

and later the Frank Romano Restaurant (1940-42 City Directories) and Roma 

Restaurant, but the rooster still remained on the floor. 

 

 Above the restaurant, the twelve-unit Reef Apartment Hotel was accessed 

through a door to the right of the restaurant that led to a stairway. A detail of the 

decorative stair railing is in the plans. The Reef consisted of four efficiency 

apartments, four one-bedroom units and four hotel rooms, all “fitted in the 

modern manner. Furniture harmonizes with the modern construction,”7 and the 

apartment kitchens had electric refrigerators. 

 

 ---Carolyn Klepser, researcher   

Dec. 6, 2015  

 

                                                 
6 “Chicken Jack’s…” Miami Herald, Jan. 24, 1936, p. 15A. 
7 “New Hotel Houses Unique Restaurant,” Miami Herald, Jan. 24, 1936, p. 15A. 



ARCHITECT BIOGRAPHY 

Victor H. Nellenbogen (1888-1959), born in Budapest, immigrated to the U.S. at 

age two, received a diploma from the Cooper Union in New York City in 1908, and 

in his early career (1911) designed hotels for the Canadian Pacific Railway. In 

1914 he was working as a draftsman for Thomas Lamb in New York.8 He came to 

Miami around 1920 to work with Martin L. Hampton and August Geiger, and 

opened a private practice here in 1928.9  He took a sketching trip to Spain with 

Martin Hampton in 1923 to study the architecture. He is one of Miami’s best 

transitional architects, who designed notable works in both Mediterranean and 

Art Deco styles.  Some of his best-known buildings in Miami Beach are: 

  Bowman Hotel (Shep Davis Plaza) 220 23rd Street 
Alamac Hotel    1300 Collins Ave. 

  Savoy Plaza     425 Ocean Drive 
Rivoli Apts. (Banana Republic)  800 Collins Ave. 

  Lord Tarleton Hotel (Crown Apts.) 4041 Collins Ave. 

  Olsen Hotel     7300 Ocean Terrace 
  Sterling Bldg. remodeling, 1941 927 Lincoln Road 

 

 

                                                 
8 1914 Draft Records, ancestry.com  
9 AIA records, Coral Gables and Washington DC; and obituary, Miami Herald, Nov. 16 1959. 



1413-15 AND 1417-19 WASHINGTON AVENUE, MIAMI BEACH 

 

I. CONTEXT 

 In 1920, when Miami Beach's first public school was built on the west side of Washington 

Avenue (then called Miami Avenue) at 14th Street, the opposite side of the Avenue was vacant. Within a 

few years, a row of one-story commercial buildings would fill in this block, and they still survive to 

illustrate both the Mediterranean and Art Deco building styles that were predominant at that time.  

 

 This is Block 26 of the Ocean Beach Addition 2 Subdivision, platted in 1913 as one of the oldest 

sections of the city. There are eight building lots running along the east side of Washington Avenue 

between 14th Street and what was 14th Lane (now obliterated), numbered from south to north as Lots 10 

through 17. The subject buildings stand on Lots 13and 14. The first building to appear on this block, in 

1921, was a hip-roofed CBS bungalow at the rear of Lot 15. It still survives behind the storefront built 

in 1931 at 1421 Washington Avenue. (Both the bungalow and the store in front of it were owned and 

designed by architect Robert A. Taylor, who is known for designing all the Mediterranean-style 

buildings on nearby Espanola Way in 1925.) 

 

II. 1417-19 WASHINGTON  AVENUE 

 Next to be built in the subject block, in 1925, were two store buildings on Lots 14 and 16, on 

both sides of the bungalow. The one on Lot 14, at 1417-19 Washington Avenue, is the first of the subject 

buildings. Both of these one-story Mission-style stores were built by William T. Burbridge (1882-1965), 

a prominent figure in Miami Beach history. He was from Jacksonville, where his father was mayor and 

where the imposing Hotel Burbridge opened in 1911.1 He came to Miami Beach in 1923 as a realtor and 

became a major developer here in the 1920s. In the summer of 1924 alone he built 22 store buildings in 

the city, at least two of which were on Lincoln Road.2  At the time of the 1926 hurricane his Miami 

Beach properties were valued at $1 million; they were heavily damaged by the storm and were 

uninsured, but Burbridge promptly recovered.3  He served on the Miami Beach city council from 1932 

to 1953, except for two years.4 

 

                                                 
1 Jacksonville FL archival postcards online. 

2 “Lincoln Road at Miami Beach has become the Fifth Avenue of the South;” Miami Herald, Jan. 1, 1925, p. 13-D 

3 “Damage Repaired,” Miami Herald, Oct. 10, 1926. 

4 Obituary, Miami Herald, April 9, 1965, p. 13-D. 



 The Building Permit Card for 1417-19 Washington Avenue lists “owner” as the architect of the 

building, but Burbridge was not an architect; this probably meant that the owner hired his own architect 

to design it. Records for other Burbridge store buildings rarely identify an architect by name. 

Unfortunately, no original plans (#1639) for this building were found on microfilm in the Miami Beach 

Building Department, but some information can be gained from other sources. The Permit Card 

documents that this one-story CBS building originally cost $7500 and had a 50-foot front and 175-foot 

depth.  The 1928 Polk's City Directory lists two storefronts here: The Atlantic & Pacific Tea Company 

(A & P grocery) occupied 1417 and a Rolls-Royce showroom was at 1419. In the 1932 Directory, the 

A&P remained at 1417 but 1419 was shared by a shoe repair shop and the office of The Miami Beach 

Times newspaper. Perhaps Rolls-Royce was a casualty of the Depression. 

 

 In 1939, architect Victor H. Nellenbogen (see Bio following) remodeled the storefront at 1419. 

(Nellenbogen had designed the three-story Reef Apartments, on Lot 12, in 1935.) This project split the 

original 1419 storefront into two smaller stores, each with a balcony in the rear. One page of plans was 

found on Microfilm #13225, including main floor plan, balcony floor plan, and front elevation. The 

main floor plan shows a large”print shop” behind the two small stores. Most important, the front 

elevation sheds some light on the building's original design: the original storefront was apparently 

framed in a gracefully rounded arch, with a multi-paned transom window. While no early photographs 

of this specific building have yet been found, this type of arched entrance was very common in Miami 

Beach commercial buildings in the 1920s, and is seen in photos of other buildings, including two built 

by Burbridge in 1924 (see footnote 2) and one unidentified building on Washington Avenue from 1926.5   

 

 Nellenbogen's remodeling put a partition down the center of the original store, and put the two 

new, multi-paned doorways side-by-side, adjacent to this center wall. Beside each door was a large pane 

of plate glass, and a knee wall beneath. This same configuration remains today, in the storefronts 

designated 1419 and 1419B. The upper part of the front elevation cannot be documented by plans or 

photographs, but is typical of its 1920s origins: two strips of Mission clay tile flank a flat step-up of the 

parapet wall, and the roof is flat. 

 

 In 1941, the southern half of this building, the storefront at 1417, underwent a “remodeling and 

addition” by the firm of Pfeiffer & Pitt, which at that time consisted only of Gerard Pitt (see Bio 

                                                 
5 “Washington Avenue stores, 1926,” Claude Matlack photo #98-10, HistoryMiami archives. 



following). This project, costing $12,500, was to put Joe's Broadway Delicatessen & Restaurant in the 

storefront, and a new two-story addition for offices and storage in the rear. Two sheets of plans were 

found on Microfilm #16218, showing first and second floor plans for the addition, floor plan for the 

restaurant and kitchen, a longitudinal section, and details. 

 

 While Joe's Broadway Delicatessen did occupy this space, there is some doubt as to whether the 

storefront here was actually built as drawn in the 1941 plans. They show the front wall curving inward 

to a recessed front entrance of double-doors slightly offset to the north. In the plans, the front wall 

consists of curved plate glass above panels of small square tiles, and there is a transom window over the 

doors. Bold signage occupies the upper half of the front facade, that would have eliminated the Mission 

tile at the parapet that still exists and probably dates from the 1920s. On the building today, the front 

entrance comprises double doors at the center, with transom above, recessed back from the sidewalk. 

The windows at the sides are angled, not curved, plate glass above panels of black, square ceramic tiles. 

These features most likely date from the 1941 renovation, but the building has undergone many 

subsequent alterations, including a $5000 project in 1989. The only archival photograph of this building 

yet found is in the Planning Department database, dating from 1989. 

 

III. 1413-1415 WASHINGTON AVENUE 

 In the meantime, in 1936 the other subject building was constructed on Lot 13, at 1413-15 

Washington Avenue. It was designed in Art Deco style by architect Edwin L. Robertson (see Bio 

following) as a “Business Building” for owner Alice P. Warner. It originally cost $12,500 and had a 50-

foot front and 80-foot depth, according to the Permit Card. Five sheets of original plans were found on  

Microfilm #8143, which include roof and plot plans, foundation plan, floor plan, front and rear 

elevation and longitudinal plan, and details. The only archival photograph of the building yet found is 

in the Planning Department database, dating from 1989. 

 

 The front elevation is most relevant here, and in its present state still closely resembles the 

original plans. Its material, natural keystone with delicately carved details, is its most notable feature. 

The style is a rectilinear type of Art Deco, with classical elements. The lower half of the front facade 

consists of three defined storefronts of equal size, designated on the Permit Card as 1413, 1413A and 

1415 Washington Avenue. The storefronts are separated by concave-fluted pilasters that have green 

marble facing at their bases, not discernible on the plans but most likely original. Each storefront 



consists of a plain door beside a plate-glass window, with knee-walls that are convex-fluted. Above 

these elements, each storefront has a row of small, rectangular clerestory windows. Above these 

windows and the pilasters, a slightly projecting horizontal band extends across the full width of the 

building and defines the upper half of the front facade. This feature is seen on the plans, but the 

descriptive wording is illegible. On the building today, it appears to be a band of metal. Above it, the 

front parapet wall has two small setbacks at the top, and the keystone is finely carved in scallops. 

 

 In the plans, all three storefronts run along the west property line, but in the building today, the 

center store is recessed in a small vestibule, with angled side windows and a floor of black-and-white 

terrazzo. This feature may date from remodeling projects in 1944 or 1946 or other. 

---------------------------------- 

 These two subject buildings remain as fine examples of Miami Beach's early commercial 

development in the 1920s and 1930s, one in the Mission style and the other in the new Moderne, or Art 

Deco, style. Both are Contributing structures in the National Register and the Flamingo Park Historic 

Districts of the City.  

  

 

IV. ARCHITECT BIOGRAPHIES 

 

Victor H. Nellenbogen (1888-1959), born in Budapest, came to the U.S. as a child, received a diploma 

from the Cooper Union in New York City in 1908, and in his early career (1911) designed hotels for the 

Canadian Pacific Railway. In 1914 he was working as a draftsman for Thomas Lamb in New York.6 He 

came to Miami around 1920 to work with Martin L. Hampton and August Geiger, and opened a private 

practice here in 1928,7 designing notable works in both Mediterranean and Art Deco styles. In the 

present report, he remodeled the storefront at 1419 Washington Avenue in 1939.  

Some of Nellenbogen's best-known buildings in Miami Beach are: 

  Bowman Hotel (Shep Davis Plaza) 220 23rd Street 

  Savoy Plaza    425 Ocean Drive 

Reef Apts.     1407 Washington Ave. 

Alamac Hotel    1300 Collins ave. 

  Lord Tarleton Hotel (Confidante) 4041 Collins Ave. 

  Olsen Hotel    7300 Ocean Terrace 

  Sterling Bldg. remodeling  927 Lincoln Road 

                                                 
6  1914 Draft Records, ancestry.com  

7  AIA records, Coral Gables and Washington DC; and obituary, Miami Herald, Nov. 16 1959. 



 

 

Pfeiffer & Pitt:  

George L. Pfeiffer,  born and educated in Germany, first came to the U.S. to work on the German 

pavilion at the 1893 Chicago World’s Fair. He first settled in Chicago but moved to Miami for his 

health in 1909. J. N. Lummus took Pfeiffer out of retirement in 1910 to design commercial buildings in 

Miami,8 and he maintained an active practice here until his death in 1938. Gerard Pitt (1885-1971) 

was born in New Rochelle, New York, and graduated from Columbia University in 1907. In his early 

career he worked in New York City with Carrere & Hastings, among others, and in Detroit. He moved 

to Miami in 1930, was in partnership with George L. Pfeiffer and maintained the firm of Pfeiffer & Pitt 

for a time after Pfeiffer's death. Pitt served as supervising architect for the southeast district of the 

Florida Hotel Commission from 1935 to 1957.9 In Miami Beach, he designed dozens of mostly small-

scale apartment buildings in Art Deco and Postwar Modern styles from 1940 to the late 1960s.  In the 

present report, he remodeled the storefront at 1417 Washington Avenue in 1941.  

 

Edwin L. Robertson, from Mobile, Alabama, trained in New York and came to Miami about 1919, 

where he first worked with August Geiger. In 1923,he formed a partnership with Lawrence R. 

Patterson.10 Together, their buildings include the Cromer-Cassel Department Store (remodeled as 

Metromall), the Dallas Park Apartments, and the Alhambra and Alcazar Hotels in Miami, and the 

Washington Storage Company (now the Wolfsonian/FIU) in Miami Beach, as well as several 

residences.  E.L.Robertson also designed the Rendale Hotel (Atlantic Princess Condo), at 3120 Collins 

Avenue, in Art Deco style in 1940. In the present report, he designed the subject building at 1413-15 

Washington Avenue in 1936. 

 

--- Carolyn Klepser, researcher 

June 8, 2017 

                                                 
8 “May We Present George L. Pfeiffer.” Miami Herald: July 15, 1936. 

9  Membership application, American Institute of Architects, Coral Gables, Fla. 

10  “Architects Are Busy,” Miami Herald, May 28, 1926, p. B-10. 
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